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The Hitachi Transport System Group has the distinct 

advantage of being the leading company in our core 

business — third party logistics (3PL: comprehensive 

logistics services). As demand for outsourced logistics 

services increases and the market for 3PL expands, we 

strive to differentiate ourselves from our competitors and 

remain at the forefront of the logistics industry by 

expanding our global logistics and promoting green 

logistics in platform and other businesses. 

During the year ended March 2011, the Japanese 

economy gradually recovered for various reasons 

including firm economic growth in emerging countries 

and support from government fiscal policy. However, 

corporate earnings were negatively impacted by 

declining stock markets and the yen’s appreciation, which 

was caused by an emerging trend among countries to 

rebuild their finances and to rely on overseas demand in 

response to volatility in European financial markets. The 

economy was weighed down further because of power 

supply shortages and weak consumption as people 

restrained from spending following the Great East Japan 

Earthquake on March 11. The logistics industry continued 

to face a harsh business environment as few signs 

By expanding the 3PL business        both in Japan and overseas, 
Hitachi Transport System Group         will work to realize greater growth. 
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Forward-looking statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that reflect 
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and its Group companies’  forecast, targets, 
plans, and strategies. These forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties, and various other factors that may cause Hitachi Transport 
System and its Group companies’  actual results, performance, 
achievements, or financial position to be materially different from any 
future results, performance, achievements, or financial position expressed 
or implied by these forward-looking statements.
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indicated a recovery in domestic demand, growth in 

cargo volume in Japan stagnated, and competition 

among companies intensified. 

 Under these conditions, the Group recorded a 

relatively healthy increase in new 3PL businesses and 

brought new companies within the scope of 

consolidation through M&As. As a result, service revenues 

for the Group rose 11% from the previous year to ¥368,798 

million. Operating income rose 25% from the previous 

year to ¥15,940 million mainly due to an increase in 

revenue, greater productivity, and efforts to reduce costs.  

Although we incurred loss on disaster totaling ¥1,260 

million due to the Great East Japan Earthquake, including 

repair expenses for equipment under other expenses, net 

income rose 17% from the previous year to ¥6,806 million. 

Therefore, we paid a total dividend of ¥22 per share, 

including a commemorative dividend of ¥2. 

We expect the Japanese business environment to be 

unpredictable due to the impact of the Great East Japan 

Earthquake and other developments, even as the 

economies of developed nations head for recovery. 

 Under these conditions, we have completed a 

tender offer for Vantec Corporation in April 2011 and  

thereby brought the company within the Group. We will 

establish a cooperative system with Vantec, work to 

generate synergies, and strive to further expand the 

business. In Japan, we will increase earnings through 

various efforts such as by winning a greater number of 

contracts in the 3PL business, by promoting the platform 

business, and by conducing M&As. Overseas, the Group 

will not only work to increase new global orders for 3PL 

services but will also expand its business foundation in 

the four principal regions of North America, Europe, China, 

and other Asian nations, by strengthening partnerships 

with local companies that have been brought within the 

scope of consolidation through M&As and providing one-

stop services that make use of the Group’s global network. 

We look forward to your continued support.

By expanding the 3PL business        both in Japan and overseas, 
Hitachi Transport System Group         will work to realize greater growth. 

Takao Suzuki
President and Chief Executive Officer 

 Message from the President

Future Business Strategy Future Business Strategy 
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Cash Dividends per Share

Consolidated Financial Highlights

Years ended March 31

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars1

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

For the year:
Service revenues ...................................... ¥ 303,958 ¥ 338,217 ¥ 352,800 ¥ 331,917 ¥ 368,798 $ 4,435,334

Operating income ................................... 11,746 14,002 14,171 12,724 15,940 191,702

Net income ................................................. 6,787 7,747 7,000 5,815 6,806 81,852

At year-end:

Total assets ................................................. 208,283 222,805 226,504 231,188 246,558 2,965,219

Net assets .................................................... 133,393 139,952 143,327 148,471 151,066 1,816,789

Per share data (Yen and U.S. dollars1):

Net income ................................................. 60.84 69.45 62.75 52.13 61.01 0.73

Net assets .................................................... 1,191.96 1,236.96 1,268.67 1,302.56 1,325.72 15.9

Cash dividends ......................................... 16.00 18.00 20.00 20.00 22.00 0.26

Other data:

Number of employees ........................... 7,940 9,960 10,416 12,283 14,700 –

Total floor space of warehouse
 (Thousand square meters) .............. 2,300 2,620 3,070 3,230 3,710 –

1.     U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥83.15=U.S.$1, the prevailing exchange rate as of March 31, 2011.

Consolidated Financial Highlights
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Domestic logistics 70 256.9 +5 21.8 +14

Global logistics 25 93.3 +31 1.5 +15

Other services 5 18.6 +14 2.8 +83

Adjustments  – – (10.1) –

Total 100 368.8 +11 15.9 +25

Service RevenuesService RevenuesService Revenues Operating IncomeOperating IncomeOperating Income

ResultsService Revenue Breakdown (%) Results Year on Year Changes(%) Year on Year Changes (%)

Results by Segment for the Year Ended March 31,  2011 (Billions of yen)
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Service Revenues Operating Income

¥256.9 billion
     (+5% year on year)

¥21.8 billion
     (+14% year on year)

Service Revenues Operating Income

¥93.3 billion
     (+31% year on year)

¥1.5 billion
     (+15% year on year)

•  Firm growth in new orders for 3PL 

services, particularly in the fields of 

retailers and FMCG manufacturers 

•  Aggressive efforts were made to 
promote the platform business, which 
is based on consolidated logistics 
subsidiaries acquired through M&As. 

•   The logistics subsidiaries of both 
the DIC Corporation and Homac 
Corporation were brought into the 
Group, and operations were launched 
under new management.

•   Steady increase in global orders, 
including new ones in both Indonesia 
and China from customers in the 
FMCG industry

•    Aggressive efforts were made to 
establish an overseas network and 
promote global 3PL operations, 
which included turning Flyjac 
Logistics Pvt. Ltd. into a subsidiary 
and bringing Dahang International 
Transportation Co, Ltd., within the 
scope of consolidation. 

Review of Operations 

Years ended March 31

Years ended March 31

Domestic Logistics

Global Logistics
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Special Feature 

Special Feature

Target Position
No. 1 Global 3PL Logistics Company in JapanManagement Vision 

Connect global production 
and consumption through 
superior logistics, operational 
skills, and diversified services.

Contribute to the creation of 
environmentally friendly 
society employing green 
logistics.

Feature: 2015 Vision 

Efforts to achieve
 the 2015 vision 

Vantec Corporation brought into 
the Hitachi Transport System Group 

Expanding and exploring auto parts logistics operations and 
strengthening the foundation of the global network 

Hitachi Transport System acquired the common stock of Vantec Corporation, a 

major logistics company, through tender offer, and Vantec turned into a 

member of the Hitachi Transport System Group on April 26, 2011. Significant 

synergies are expected to be generated through cooperation between 

Hitachi Transport System, whose strength is 3PL, and Vantec, whose forte is 

automobile parts logistics and freight forwarding. 

3PL operations and sales abilities

IT & engineering skills for logistics operations

Global network for 3PL business

Operations and sales abilities in the auto parts logistics business

Freight forwarding abilities

Global network for the auto parts logistics business

Synergies:  

1.   Expand the 3PL business by creating an automobile parts logistics platform 
2. Expand the 3PL business for other industries 
3. Expand business and improve competitiveness through cooperation with the forwarding business 
4. Increase productivity through the shared use of  both companies’ assets 

14.0 14.2 12.7
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Annual Report 2011
Special Feature 

Targets of 2015 Vision 
Service revenue:  Operating margin: Operating income:

¥750.0 billion 5.0 %  ¥37.5 billion

Continued growth in the global logistics market 

Business alliance with Kintetsu World Express, Inc. 
and establishment of a joint-venture 

Promote mutual support and cooperation, improve ability to meet customer needs, and increase corporate value 

Business alliance as of 
May 11, 2011 

Establish Project Cargo Japan, Inc., a joint venture for project cargo, on July 1, 2011 

Expand sales to external customers outside the Hitachi Group 

Improve its know-how related to handling project cargo 

Main businesses are developing project management and engineering for project cargo transportation

32.0
30

10
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Topics 

In order to strengthen logistics operations in India, 

a country experiencing remarkable economic 

growth, Hitachi Transport System acquired all shares 

of Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd., a major Indian freight 

forwarding company. 

Flyjac’s customers include not only domestic 

Indian companies but also many European and 

American companies, and the company boasts  

a network of agents in 57 countries throughout  

the world. 

It is, therefore, expected that business will 

expand duo to the synergies generated by the 

integration of Flyjac’s Indian-based network and 

Hitachi Transport System’s 3PL operation abilities.

Acquisition of Indian logistics company 
topicstopicstopicstopics

1

Hitachi Transport System increased its stakes in 

Dahang International Transportation Co., Ltd. from 

30% to 85%, turning the company into  

a consolidated subsidiary. 

In cooperation with the Hitachi Transport 

System Group, Dahang International Transportation 

has developed various operations in China, 

particularly focusing on freight forwarding and 3PL 

operations, and it is expected that making the 

company a consolidated subsidiary will further 

strengthen the alliance. By expanding the logistics 

network in China, we will improve the level of the 

logistics services for our customers.  

Making Dahang International Transportation 
a consolidated subsidiary 

topicstopics

2
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Hitachi Transport System acquired shares of the logistics 

company of the DIC Corporation, a leader in the chemical 

industry. Operations were launched under a new system and 

a new name, Hitachi Finenext Transport System Co., Ltd. 

We will use this opportunity to fully launch logistics 

operations to create a platform for the chemical industry and 

strive for better service and lower logistics costs for customers. 

Acquisition of DIC’s logistics subsidiary 
topicstopicstopicstopics

4

Hitachi Transport System acquired shares of Direx Co., Ltd., 

the logistics subsidiary of Homac Corporation, which 

operates a DIY store business, and this led to new orders 

mainly in the Hokkaido and Tohoku regions. 

In addition to streamlining and increasing the 

efficiency of logistics operations, we will focus on 

strengthening the logistics networks in the Hokkaido and 

Tohoku regions. 

Acquisition of Homac’s logistics subsidiary 
topicstopicstopicstopics

3

Establishment of New Distribution Centers 

3. Tochigi Distribution Center
     (Tochigi) 

 (Started operation in January 2011) 

2. Zama Distribution Center
     (Kanagawa) 

 (Started operation in November 2010) 

1. Osaka XD (Osaka) 
 (Started operation in September 2010) 

topicstopicstopicstopicstopicstopicstopics

5
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Our corporate governance philosophy is that, along with efforts 

to increase management efficiency and transparency, we must 

base our business activity and ongoing development efforts on 

ethical conduct and compliance. We will follow these ideas as 

we establish a healthy, highly transparent corporate governance 

system that will enable us to nimbly respond to changes in the 

business environment. As part of this effort, since June 2003, the 

Company has been using a management committee system in 

which management oversight and business execution 

functions are separate. Hitachi Transport System employs 

outside directors in order to benefit from objective outside 

opinions, and has set three committees, a Nominating 

Committee, Audit Committee, and Compensation Committee, 

to create separate areas of management authority. We are 

making every effort to improve transparency and strengthen 

oversight functions. The Company has transferred the greater 

part of business execution authority from the Board of Directors 

to executive officers, and is endeavoring to speed up decision-

making in such areas as business reorganization and strategic 

investments. The Audit Committee has the authority to monitor 

directors and executive officers in their execution of business; in 

addition, a full internal-control system has been setup within 

the Board of Directors. In order to ensure a high degree of 

reliability in our financial reporting, the Company has 

introduced an internal control system for financial information 

based on a standard framework compatible with the US 

Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act, which is aimed at corporate reform. 

We have also initiated efforts in relation to the Internal Control 

Reporting System as set forth in the Japanese Financial 

Instruments and Exchange Law (often referred to as “J-SOX"). 

We have significantly strengthened our information 

security system. Along with extensive in-house training 

programs in the area of information security to ensure proper 

and secure handling of all information assets including 

customer information and personal information consigned to 

us in the course of providing logistics services, we have 

acquired the Information Security Management System (ISMS) 

and the PrivacyMark certification.

Orders

Corporate Governance Structure

Proposals for the 
Appointment and 
Dismissal of Directors

Appointment and Dismissal
Delegation of Decision
Supervision

Decision of 
Compensation

Orders to Assist

Orders to Assist

Appointment and 
Dismissal

Appointment and 
Dismissal

Audit

Report

Report

Report

Report

Internal Audit

Report

Orders

Audit

Report
and Audit

Report

Appointment AppointmentAppointment

Proposals for the 
Appointment and Dismissal 
of Accounting Auditors

Accounting & Finance Department

Internal Control Committee

Internal Auditing Office

Human Resources & Business Support Office

Environment Policy Department

Labor Safety & Corporate Quality 
Assurance Promotion Office 

Information Security Office

AEO & Corporate  
Export Regulation Office

General Meeting of Shareholders

Director ’s Office Accounting Auditors

Executive Officers

Executive 
Committee 

Nominating
Committee

Audit
Committee

Compensation
Committee

Report

Each Operating Division

Board of Directors

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance
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As of March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 2)
ASSETS 2011 2010 2011

Current assets:
Cash (Notes 4 and 5) ................................................................................................................. ¥ 5,944 ¥ 7,669 $ 71,485 

Deposit to the parent company (Notes 3, 4 and 5) ........................................................ 21,877 26,655 263,103 

Trade receivables: (Notes 3 and 5)

Accounts and notes  ............................................................................................................. 69,184 65,116 832,038 

Affiliates .................................................................................................................................... 28 857 337 

Allowance for doubtful receivables ................................................................................ (474) (524) (5,701)

Net trade receivables .................................................................................................... 68,738 65,449 826,675 

Investments in leases (Notes 17) .......................................................................................... 4,462 3,290 53,662 

Merchandise................................................................................................................................. 560 571 6,735 

Work in process ........................................................................................................................... 154 87 1,852 

Raw materials and supplies .................................................................................................... 231 239 2,778 

Deferred tax assets (Note 10) ................................................................................................. 4,103 3,376 49,345 

Other current assets .................................................................................................................. 4,712 3,438 56,669 

Total current assets ........................................................................................................ 110,781 110,774 1,332,303 

Property and equipment:

Land (Notes 7 and 8) ................................................................................................................. 35,663 33,183 428,900 

Buildings and structures (Notes 7 and 8) ........................................................................... 110,744 107,572 1,331,858 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles (Note 8) .................................................................. 32,352 30,598 389,080 

Tools, furniture and fixtures .................................................................................................... 11,288 10,935 135,755 

Leased assets ............................................................................................................................... 8,809 4,867 105,941 

Construction in progress ......................................................................................................... 1,013 170 12,183 

199,869 187,325 2,403,716 

Less accumulated depreciation ............................................................................................ (95,921) (90,040) (1,153,590)

Net property and equipment .................................................................................... 103,948 97,285 1,250,126 

Intangible assets:

Goodwill ........................................................................................................................................ 12,441 6,338 149,621 

Other intangible assets ............................................................................................................ 6,168 4,557 74,179 

Total intangible assets .................................................................................................. 18,609 10,895 223,800 

Investments and other assets:

Investments in securities (Notes 4 and 5) .......................................................................... 2,094 2,285 25,183 

Investments in affiliates ........................................................................................................... 604 641 7,264 

Long-term loan receivables .................................................................................................... 50 60 601 

Deferred tax assets (Note 10) ................................................................................................. 4,003 3,437 48,142 

Other assets (Notes 11) ............................................................................................................ 6,622 6,210 79,639 

Allowance for doubtful receivables ..................................................................................... (153) (399) (1,840)

Total investments and other assets ......................................................................... 13,220 12,234 158,990 

Total assets ¥ 246,558 ¥ 231,188 $ 2,965,219 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
 Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries
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Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 2)
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2011 2010 2011

Current liabilities:
Short-term bank loans (Notes 5 and 7) .............................................................................. ¥ 2,857  ¥ 3,717 $ 34,360  

Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 5 and 7) ....................................................... 448 6,214 5,388 

Lease obligations (Note 7) ...................................................................................................... 1,523 1,075 18,316 

Trade payables:

Accounts and notes .............................................................................................................. 28,156 24,513 338,617 

Affiliates .................................................................................................................................... 24 216 289 

Total trade payables ...................................................................................................... 28,180 24,729 338,906 

Accrued expenses ...................................................................................................................... 11,850 10,780 142,514 

Income taxes payable (Note 10) ........................................................................................... 4,021 4,337 48,358 

Provision for loss on disaster (Note 9) ................................................................................. 1,369 – 16,464 

Other current liabilities  ........................................................................................................... 13,925 12,801 167,468 

Total current liabilities .................................................................................................. 64,173 63,653 771,774 

Long-term debt (Notes 5 and 7) .................................................................................... 10,545 3,711 126,819 

Lease obligations (Note 7) .............................................................................................. 5,975 2,152 71,858 

Accrued retirement and severance benefits (Note 11) ............................................. 12,069 11,141 145,147 

Accrued retirement benefits for directors  ................................................................. 746 748 8,972 

Negative goodwill ........................................................................................................... 88 121 1,058 

Other non-current liabilities.......................................................................................... 1,896 1,191 22,802 

Total liabilities .................................................................................................................. 95,492 82,717 1,148,431 

Net assets (Note 12):

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock

Authorized 292,000,000 shares in 2011 and 2010

Issued   111,776,714 shares in 2011 and 2010 ............................................... 16,803 16,803 202,081 

Additional paid-in capital ................................................................................................... 13,428 13,428 161,491 

Retained earnings  ................................................................................................................ 120,509 116,157 1,449,296 

Treasury stock at cost— 224,827 shares in 2011

 and 224,615 shares in 2010 ........................................................................................... (177) (177) (2,129)

Total shareholders’ equity ........................................................................................... 150,563 146,211 1,810,740 

Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on other securities ............................................ (57) 49 (686)

Deferred gains (losses) on hedges .................................................................................. (57) 52 (686)

Foreign currency translation adjustments ................................................................... (2,562) (1,009) (30,812)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income ............................................. (2,676) (908) (32,183)

Minority interests 3,179 3,168 38,232 

Total net assets ................................................................................................................ 151,066 148,471 1,816,789 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 246,558 ¥ 231,188 $ 2,965,219 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 2)

2011 2010 2011

Service revenues (Note 3) .............................................................................................. ¥ 368,798  ¥ 331,917  $ 4,435,334  

Cost of services ............................................................................................................... 328,399 297,570 3,949,477 

Gross profit ................................................................................................................................... 40,399 34,347 485,857 

Selling, general and administrative expenses ................................................................... 24,459 21,623 294,155 

Operating income ................................................................................................................. 15,940 12,724 191,702 

Other income (expenses) :

Interest income (Note 3) .......................................................................................................... 93 127 1,118 

Interest expenses ....................................................................................................................... (387) (289) (4,654)

Dividends income ...................................................................................................................... 54 47 649 

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies ........................................................................ 177 73 2,129 

Loss on disaster ........................................................................................................................... (1,260) – (15,153)

Others, net (Note 15) ................................................................................................................. (1,047) (285) (12,592)

Income before income taxes and minority interests ............................................... 13,570 12,397 163,199 

Income taxes (Note 10)................................................................................................................. (6,614) (6,402) (79,543)

Income before minority interests .................................................................................... 6,956 5,995 83,656 

Minority interests ............................................................................................................ (150) (180) (1,804)

Net income .............................................................................................................................. ¥ 6,806 ¥ 5,815 $ 81,852 

Yen
U.S. dollar
(Note 2)

2011 2010 2011

Net income per share (Note 16) ................................................................................................. ¥ 61.01 ¥ 52.13 $ 0.73  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 2)

2011 2011

Income before minority interests .............................................................................................. ¥ 6,956   $ 83,656   

Other comprehensive income

Net unrealized holding gain on other securities ....................................................... (106) (1,275)

Deferred losses on hedges ................................................................................................ (109) (1,311)

Foreign currency translation adjustments ................................................................... (1,553) (18,677)

Total other comprehensive income ............................................................................... (1,768) (21,263)

Total comprehensive income ...................................................................................................... ¥ 5,188   $ 62,393   

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parents ........................... 5,398 64,919 

Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests ................................... (210) (2,526)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries
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For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
Millions of yen

Common 
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Net unrealized
holding gain on
other securities

Deferred
gains (losses) on 

hedges

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments

Minority
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at March 31, 2009 ............................... ¥ 16,803  ¥ 13,428   ¥ 112,602  ¥ (176) ¥ 16  ¥ – ¥ (1,150) ¥ 1,804  ¥ 143,327  

Net income ......................................................... – – 5,815 – – – – – 5,815 

Cash dividends  ................................................. – – (2,232) – – – – – (2,232)

Change in scope of equity method ........... – – (28) – – – – – (28)

Net changes during the year ....................... – – – – 33 52 141 1,364 1,590 

Increase in treasury stock, net ..................... – – – (1) – – – – (1)

Balance at March 31, 2010 ............................... 16,803 13,428 116,157 (177) 49 52 (1,009) 3,168 148,471 

Net income ......................................................... – – 6,806 – – – – – 6,806 

Cash dividends  ................................................. – – (2,454) – – – – – (2,454)

Net changes during the year ....................... – – – – (106) (109) (1,553) 11 (1,757)

Increase in treasury stock, net ..................... – – – (0) – – – – (0)

Balance at March 31, 2011 ............................... ¥ 16,803  ¥ 13,428   ¥ 120,509   ¥ (177) ¥ (57) ¥ (57) ¥ (2,562) ¥ 3,179  ¥ 151,066  

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 2)

Common 
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Net unrealized
holding gain on
other securities

Deferred
gains (losses) on 

hedges

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments

Minority
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at March 31, 2010 ............................... $ 202,081 $ 161,491  $ 1,396,957 $ (2,129) $ 589  $ 625  $ (12,135) $ 38,100  $ 1,785,580  

Net income ......................................................... – – 81,852 – – – – – 81,852 

Cash dividends  ................................................. – – (29,513) – – – – – (29,513)

Net changes during the year ....................... – – – – (1,275) (1,311) (18,677) 132 (21,130)

Increase in treasury stock, net  .................... – – – (0) – – – – (0)

Balance at March 31, 2011 ............................... $ 202,081  $ 161,491  $ 1,449,296 $ (2,129) $ (686) $ (686) $ (30,812) $ 38,232  $ 1,816,789 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries
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For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 2)

2011 2010 2011

Cash flows from operating activities:
 Income before income taxes and minority interests.................................................... ¥ 13,570  ¥ 12,397  $ 163,199 
 Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes
 and minority interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ........................................................................................ 9,672 9,403 116,320 
Amortization of long-term prepaid expenses ............................................................ 395 324 4,750 
Amortization of goodwill ................................................................................................... 953 304 11,461 
Impairment losses for fixed assets .................................................................................. - 907 -
Gain on sales of property and equipment ................................................................... (30) (57) (361)
Increase in accrued retirement and severance benefits ......................................... 800 611 9,621 
Increase (Decrease) in accrued retirement benefits for directors ....................... (101) 32 (1,215)
Increase in other allowance .............................................................................................. 1,047 266 12,592 
Interest income and dividends ........................................................................................ (147) (174) (1,768)
Interest expenses .................................................................................................................. 387 289 4,654 
Gain on sales of investment securities .......................................................................... (40) (183) (481)
Decrease in trade receivables ........................................................................................... 647 259 7,781 
Increase in inventories ........................................................................................................ (170) (87) (2,044)
Increase (Decrease) in trade payables ........................................................................... (2,179) 2,509 (26,206)
Other, net ................................................................................................................................. (278) 502 (3,343)

Subtotal ............................................................................................................................. 24,526 27,302 294,961 
 Receipts of interest income and dividends ..................................................................... 147 174 1,768 
 Interest expenses paid ............................................................................................................ (389) (299) (4,678)
 Income taxes paid ..................................................................................................................... (7,932) (6,734) (95,394)

Net cash provided by operating activities ............................................................ 16,352 20,443 196,657 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Deposit in time deposits.......................................................................................................... (626) (1,672) (7,529)
Withdrawal from time deposits  ........................................................................................... 1,729 169 20,794 
Purchase of property and equipment ................................................................................ (6,607) (10,898) (79,459)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment ........................................................... 209 400 2,514 
Purchase of investments in securities ................................................................................. (150) (2) (1,804)
Proceeds from sales of investments in securities ........................................................... 235 533 2,826 
Increase of long-term prepaid expenses ........................................................................... (493) (378) (5,929)
Proceeds from acquisition of investments 
  in newly consolidated subsidiaries .................................................................................... - 37 -
Payments for acquisition of investments 
  in newly consolidated subsidiaries (Note 4) ................................................................... (9,513) (3,361) (114,408)
Other, net ...................................................................................................................................... 3,332 (1,623) 40,072 

Net cash used in investing activities ....................................................................... (11,884) (16,795) (142,922)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Decrease in short-term bank loans, net ............................................................................. (1,735) (148) (20,866)
Payments on long-term debt ................................................................................................. (7,004) (6,062) (84,233)
Proceeds from long-term debt .............................................................................................. 6,323 - 76,043 
Dividends paid to shareholders ............................................................................................ (2,454) (2,232) (29,513)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries ............................................ (40) (31) (481)
Other, net ...................................................................................................................................... (1,612) (438) (19,387)

Net cash used in financing activities ....................................................................... (6,522) (8,911) (78,437)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ........................... (426) (152) (5,123)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ................................................................... (2,480) (5,415) (29,826)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ......................................................... 29,390 34,805 353,458 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 4) ..................................................... ¥ 26,910  ¥ 29,390  $ 323,632 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries
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1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, 
the “Companies”) are prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain 
respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been restructured and translated into English from the consolidated financial statements of 
the Companies prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Financial Services Agency as 
required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. Some supplementary information included in the statutory consolidated financial statements 
prepared in Japanese is not presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(b) Consolidation Policy
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and those of its effectively controlled subsidiaries. The 
consolidated subsidiaries were 20 domestic and 33 foreign subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2011. All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in 9 significant affiliates are stated at their underlying net equity value, and the 
appropriate portion of the earnings of such companies is included in consolidated net income.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, the Companies consider all highly liquid investments with insignificant risk of changes in value which 
have maturities of generally three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

(d) Short-term Investments and Investments in Securities
The Company accounts for securities in accordance with “Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments” issued by the Business Accounting 
Deliberation Council. Under this standard, securities are to be classified into one of following three categories and accounted for as follows:
(1)  Securities that the Companies hold with the objective of generating profits on short-term differences in price are classified as trading securities and 

measured at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses included in earnings.
(2)   Securities that the Companies have the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities and measured at 

amortized cost.
(3)  Securities classified as neither trading securities nor held-to-maturity securities are classified as other securities and measured at fair value, with 

either unrealized holding gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported as net unrecognized holding gain (loss), net of tax effect in a 
separate component of net assets until realized. In cases where any significant decline in the fair value is assessed to be other than temporary, the 
cost of other securities is devaluated by the impaired amount and the loss is included in earnings.

Other securities without fair values are carried at cost. In computing realized gain or loss, cost of other securities is principally determined by the 
moving-average method.

(e) Inventories
The Company accounts for inventories in accordance with “Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories” (“Accounting Standard No. 9” issued 
by Accounting Standard Board of Japan on July 5, 2006). This standard requires that inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business be 
carried in the balance sheets at the acquisition cost, however, in the case that the net selling value declines below the acquisition cost at the end of the 
period, this standard requires that inventories be carried in the balance sheets at the net selling value.

(f) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets including those for rent, by the 
declining-balance method, except for certain buildings which are depreciated by the straight-line method.
  The depreciation method of leased assets under finance lease with transfer of ownership is the same method used for property and equipment. 
 Leased assets under finance lease without transfer of ownership are depreciated over the lease term of the respective assets.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries



Financial Statements
Annual Report 201116

 (g) Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company accounts for fixed assets in accordance with “Opinion Concerning Establishment of Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets” 
issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council and “Guidance for the Application of Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets” 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan. Under these standard and guidance, an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount 
of an asset or an asset group exceeds undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or the asset group. The impairment 
loss is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount being higher of discounted future net cash 
flows or net realizable value.
 Under the Company’s policy, units based on location are considered asset groups for impairment analysis. With respect to non-performing assets, 
if future use is not determined, such assets are regarded as an independent asset group. Impairment loss on these assets is recorded at the carrying 
amount of each asset in excess of its estimated fair value. The estimated fair value of these assets is measured by the respective net selling prices. The 
selling prices are based on appraisal value.

(h) Retirement and Severance Benefits
The Company accounts for its obligations to pay retirement and severance benefits to employees in accordance with “Accounting Standards for 
Retirement and Severance Benefits” issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council. Under this standard, an accrual for retirement and 
severance benefits for employees is provided based on the projected benefit obligations and the fair value of the pension assets, as adjusted for 
unrecognized actuarial gain or loss.

(i) Foreign Currency Translation
The Company accounts for foreign currency transactions and translation of the financial statements of its foreign subsidiaries in accordance with 
“Accounting Standards for Foreign Currency Transaction” issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council. Under this standard, foreign currency 
transactions are translated into yen on the basis of the rates in effect at the transaction date or, if only the relation between a foreign currency 
transaction and related firm forward exchange contracts meets the criteria of hedge accounting as regulated in “Accounting Standards for Financial 
Instruments”, those covered by firm forward exchange contracts can be translated at such contract rates. At year-end, monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date, except for those, as described 
above, translated at related contract rates. Gains or losses resulting from the translation of foreign currencies, including gains and losses on settlement, 
are credited or charged to income as incurred.
 The financial statements of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into the reporting currency of yen as follows: all assets and 
liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date; shareholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical rates; 
income and expenses are translated at an average of exchange rates in effect during the year; and a comprehensive adjustment resulting from 
translation of assets, liabilities and net assets is reported as “Foreign currency translation adjustments”, a separate component of net assets.

(j) Derivative and Hedge Accounting
The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with “Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments”. Under this standard, in 
principal, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value, with unrealized gain or loss included in earnings. Hedging transactions, which 
meet the criteria of hedge accounting as provided in “Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments”, are accounted for using deferral hedge 
accounting, which requires the unrealized gain or loss to be deferred as a separate component of net assets until gain or loss relating to the hedge 
objects are recognized. In addition, qualified interest rate swap transactions are accounted using the special method as allowed under the standard. 
Under the special method, interest rate swap transactions are accounted for as if the interest rates under those transactions were originally applied to 
underlying borrowings and debentures.
 The following summarizes hedging derivative financial instruments used by the Companies and hedged objects.

(1)  Hedging instrument         Interest rate swap contracts
 Hedged object                    Interest on long-term debt
(2)  Hedging instrument         Forward foreign exchange contracts
 Hedged object                    Foreign currency trade payables

 In accordance with internal regulations which determine the authorization rules for derivative transactions, the Companies use forward foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge exchange rate fluctuation risk on hedged items and interest rate swap exchange contracts to hedge interest rate 
fluctuation risk on hedged items. 
 The evaluation of hedge effectiveness is based on a comparison between the cumulative fluctuations of cash flows or fluctuations in rates on 
hedged items and hedging instruments. The evaluation is executed on a half-year basis. Interest rate swaps meet the conditions for the application of 
special method of accounting so that an evaluation of hedge effectiveness is omitted as permitted by “Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments”.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. and subsidiaries
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(k) Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with “Accounting Standards for Deferred Income Taxes” 
issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council. Under the asset and liability method of the standards, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount of existing assets 
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided for the amount 
that is not considered to be recoverable.

 (l) Treasury Stock
The Company accounts for treasury stocks in accordance with the revised “Accounting Standards for Treasury Shares and Appropriation of Legal 
Reserve” issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan. Under this standard, treasury stock is recorded at cost as a deduction of net assets. When 
the Company reissues the treasury stock, the difference between the issuance price and the cost of the treasury stock is credited or charged to 
additional paid-in capital.

 (m) Net Income per Share
The Company computes and discloses net income per share under the revised “Accounting Standard for Earnings per Share” issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board of Japan. Under this standard, basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by 
the weighted average number of shares of common shares outstanding during the respective years. Diluted net income per share reflects the potential 
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the 
issuance of common stock.

(n) Accounting for Leases
The Company accounts for lease transaction in accordance with Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No. 13, “Accounting Standard 
for Lease Transactions”.
 The new accounting standard requires that all finance lease transactions should be capitalized to recognize lease assets and lease obligations on 
the balance sheets. It also requires that all finance leases that deem to transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee should be recognized as 
lease receivables, and all finance leases that deem not to transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee should be recognized as investments 
in lease.
 In addition, it permits leases which existed at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee to be 
accounted for as operating lease transactions. The Companies adopted the revised accounting standard effective April 1, 2008. 

(o) Provision for Loss on Disaster
Provision for loss on disaster is estimated and recognized at the balance sheet date for the potential costs of the recovery of the assets damaged by the 
Great East Japan Earthquake including cost of restoration, removal and other that we expect to incur in future fiscal years.

(p) Application of New Accounting Standards
Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations
“Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations”(ASBJ Statement No. 18, issued on March 31, 2008) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ Guidance No. 21, issued on March 31, 2008) became effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010, 
and the Companies have applied them from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
 The change in the amount of asset retirement obligations owing to the application of this accounting standard is ¥545 million ($6,554 thousand).
 Accordingly, operating income and income before income taxes and minority interests decreased by ¥28 million ($337 thousand) and ¥149 
million ($1,792 thousand), respectively, compared with the previous accounting method.

Accounting Standard for Business Combinations
“Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No. 21, revised on December 26, 2008),“ Accounting Standard for Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22, issued on December 26, 2008), “Partial amendment to Accounting Standard for Research and 
Development Costs” (ASBJ Statement No. 23, issued on December 26, 2008), “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7, 
revised on December 26, 2008), “Revised Accounting Standard for Equity Method of Accounting for Investments” (ASBJ Statement No. 16, announced 
on December 26, 2008) and “Revised Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 10, revised on December 26, 2008) became effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010, and the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries have applied them from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. 
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2. Basis of Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are expressed in Japanese yen and, solely for the convenience of the reader, have been translated 
into United States dollars at the rate of ¥83.15 = U.S.$1, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on the Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market as of March 
31, 2011. This translation should not be construed as a representation that the amounts shown have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars at 
such a rate.

3. Balances and Transactions with Related Companies
(a)   59% of outstanding voting right at the general shareholders’ meeting of the Company is owned by Hitachi, Ltd. (the parent company) as of March 

31, 2011 and 2010. Principal balances and transactions with the parent company as of and for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 are 
summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2010 2011

Principal balances:

Trade receivables ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 4,165 ¥ 4,853 $ 50,090

Deposit to the parent company ............................................................................................ 21,063 26,655 253,313

Principal transactions:

Service revenues......................................................................................................................... 18,890 20,190 227,180

Net (decrease) increase in deposit to the parent company ........................................ (5,638) (4,659) (67,805)

Interest income ........................................................................................................................... 46 89 553

(b)   The Company’s principal balances and related transactions with Hitachi Appliances, Inc., which currently has a common parent company, Hitachi 
Ltd., as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2011

Principal balances:

Trade receivables ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 2,674 $ 32,159

Principal transactions:

Service revenues......................................................................................................................... 10,649 128,070

(c)   The Company’s principal balances and related transactions with Hitachi Capital Corporation, which currently has a common parent company, 
Hitachi Ltd., as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2011

Principal balances:

Lease obligations due within one year .............................................................................. ¥ 775 $ 9,321

Lease obligations over one year ........................................................................................... 3,045 36,621

Principal transactions:

Lease transactions ..................................................................................................................... 2,661 32,002
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 (d)   The Company’s principal balances and related transactions with Hitachi Capital Auto Lease Corporation, which currently has a common parent 
company, Hitachi Ltd., as of and for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2010 2011

Principal balances:
Other current liabilities ............................................................................................................ ¥ 2,032 ¥ 1,724 $ 24,438
Other non-current liabilities ................................................................................................... 2,695 2,115 32,411

Principal transactions:
Purchase of vehicles by installment .................................................................................... 4,802 4,510 57,751
Interest expense ......................................................................................................................... 69 44 830

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

(a) Reconciliations between consolidated balance sheet captions and “Cash and cash equivalents” are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2010 2011

Cash ...................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 5,944 ¥ 7,669 $ 71,485

Deposit to the parent company ................................................................................................. 21,877 26,655 263,103

Time deposits with over three months maturity and others .......................................... (911) (4,934) (10,956)

Cash and cash equivalents ......................................................................................................... ¥ 26,910 ¥ 29,390 $ 323,632

(b)  Major breakdown of assets and liabilities of companies that are newly included in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 
31, 2011 and 2010 due to acquisition of their shares are as follows:

(1)  Acquisition of shares of Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. for the year ended March 31, 2011
The following table summarizes the breakdown of assets and liabilities when it was initially consolidated following the acquisition of majority of 
the shares, the acquisition cost, cash and cash equivalents acquired and net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition.

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2011

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 2,091 $ 25,147

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 1,513 18,196

Goodwill ............................................................................................................... 3,928 47,240

Current liabilities................................................................................................ (1,622) (19,507)

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... (381) (4,582)

Acquisition cost .................................................................................................. 5,529 66,494

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired ............................................ (276) (3,319)

Net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition .................. ¥ 5,253 $ 63,175



(2) Acquisition of shares of Hitachi Finenext Transport System Co., Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2011
The following table summarizes the breakdown of assets and liabilities when it was initially consolidated following the acquisition of majority of 
the shares, the acquisition cost, cash and cash equivalents acquired and net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition.

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2011

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 1,934 $ 23,259

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 3,337 40,132

Goodwill ............................................................................................................... 2,889 34,744

Current liabilities................................................................................................ (4,809) (57,835)

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... (122) (1,467)

Minority interests .............................................................................................. (34) (409)

Acquisition cost .................................................................................................. 3,195 38,425

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired ............................................ (97) (1,167)

Net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition .................. ¥ 3,098 $ 37,258

(3) Acquisition of shares of J.P. Holding Company Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2010
The following table summarizes the breakdown of assets and liabilities when it was initially consolidated following the acquisition of majority of 
the shares, the acquisition cost, cash and cash equivalents acquired and net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition.

Millions of yen
2010

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 1,584

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 3,874

Goodwill ............................................................................................................... 2,740

Current liabilities................................................................................................ (1,909)

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... (2,595)

Minority interests .............................................................................................. (467)

Acquisition cost .................................................................................................. 3,227

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired ............................................ (63)

Net cash and cash equivalents paid for the acquisition .................. ¥ 3,164

5. Financial Instruments
Effective from the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company adopted the revised Accounting Standard, “Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 10 revised on March 10, 2008) and the “Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No.19 
revised on March 10, 2008).  Information on financial instruments for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 required pursuant to the revised 
accounting standards is as follows.

(a) Qualitative information on financial instruments
(1) Policies for using financial instruments

The Companies’ policy is to limit its investment of assets to depositing funds in the parent company and its subsidiaries and affiliates and making 
short-term deposits. In addition, the Companies raise funds through bank borrowings. Derivatives are employed to hedge against the risks 
described below; the Companies do not engage in speculative transactions.

(2) Details of financial instruments used and the exposures to risk and how they arise
Notes and accounts receivable, which are claimable assets, involve credit risks on the part of customers. 
 The Companies hold shares, which are investments in equity securities, primarily for the purpose of maintaining business relationships with 
other companies. Such equity securities are subject to market price fluctuation risk.
 Notes and accounts payable, which are trade liabilities, are payable within one year.
Due to the development of global logistics, certain claimable assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies and consequently entail 
exchange rate fluctuation risk. 
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 As for borrowings, the Companies utilize short-term bank loans primarily to fund operating transactions. The Companies utilize long-term 
debt (in principle, within five years) mainly to provide long-term working capital. Floating-rate debts are subject to interest rate fluctuation risk, 
but for certain long-term debts, the Company minimizes the risk of fluctuations in interest payments by fixing payment interest rates, employing 
interest rate swap transactions to hedge individual contracts.
 Trade liabilities and debts are subject to liquidity risk.
 With regard to derivative transactions, forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge exchange rate fluctuation risk on foreign 
currency trade payables, and interest rate swap transactions are used to hedge the risk of fluctuations in interest payment.

(3) Policies and systems for risk management
(i) Management of credit risk (the risk that a business partner will default on its business transactions)

In line with Credit Management Policy with regard to claimable assets, the administrative department of each operating division periodically 
monitors the credit situation of major clients, managing due dates and balances, as it seeks to gain an early understanding of any worsening in 
their financial or other conditions that might result in collection difficulties, thereby reducing such potential. Consolidated subsidiaries also 
conduct credit risk management in this manner, in accordance with the Company’s Credit Management Policy. 
 To reduce counterparty risk when utilizing derivative transactions, the Company conducts such transactions with highly rated financial 
institutions. 
 As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, the maximum amount of credit risk is indicated by the amount of financial assets with credit risks in the 
balance sheets.

(ii) Management of market risk (the risk of exchange and interest rate fluctuations)
The Company employs forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge market risk on certain foreign currency claimable assets and liabilities. 
Furthermore, interest rate swap transactions are used to hedge the risk of fluctuations in interest payments on borrowings. 
 The Companies regularly check the market value of other securities, as well as the financial conditions of their issuers. The Companies 
review the status of their holdings of bonds other than those held to maturity on an ongoing basis, taking into consideration of their 
relationships with the corporate business partners. Derivative Transaction Management Policy establish transaction limits and other items 
concerning derivative transactions. The Accounting and Finance Department conducts derivative transactions in accordance with these 
Derivative Transaction Management Policy, booking the transactions and confirming these transactions with transaction counterparties. 
Transaction results are reported to the Board of Executive Officers and General Manager of the Accounting and Finance Department. 
Consolidated subsidiaries also manage derivative transactions in accordance with the Company’s Derivative Transaction Management Policy.

(iii) Management of liquidity risk associated with fund procurement (the risk of being unable to execute payments on due dates)
Based on the reports the Accounting and Finance Department receives from each department, it prepares and updates cash flow plans on a 
timely basis. The department ensures on-hand liquidity by maintaining funds on hand equivalent to one month of consolidated service 
revenues, thereby managing liquidity risk.

(4) Supplemental information on fair values of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their market value. The fair value of financial instruments that has no available market value is 
determined by using a rational method of calculation. However, as variables are inherent in these value calculations, the values may be different 
from those calculated by using different assumptions. Also, in the note entitled “(b) Fair values of financial instruments” market risk related to 
derivative financial instruments is not included in the notional amounts of those instruments.
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(b) Fair values of financial instruments
Book values and fair values as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 and differences between the two are as follows. Instruments of which fair values are not 
readily determinable are not included in the table below:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2011 2011
Book value Fair value Difference Book value Fair value Difference

Assets
(1) Cash ................................................................... ¥ 5,944 ¥ 5,944 ¥ – $ 71,485 $ 71,485 $ –

(2) Accounts and notes ..................................... 69,212 69,212 – 832,375 832,375 –

Allowance for doubtful receivables (*1) ....... (433) (433) – (5,207) (5,207) –

 Trade receivables ......................................... 68,779 68,779 – 827,168 827,168 –

(3) Deposit to the parent company.............. 21,877 21,877 – 263,103 263,103 –

(4) Other securities ............................................. 1,130 1,130 – 13,590 13,590 –

Liabilities
(1) Trade payables .............................................. ¥ (28,180) ¥ (28,180) ¥ – $ (338,906) $ (338,906) $ –

(2) Short-term bank loans ............................... (2,857) (2,857) – (34,360) (34,360)  –

(3) Long-term debt ............................................ (6,327) (6,361) (34) (76,091) (76,500) (409)

Derivative transactions (*2) ............................ ¥ (118) ¥ (118) ¥ – $ (1,419) $ (1,419) $ –
(*1) The general allowance for doubtful accounts and individual allowance for doubtful accounts are deducted from “Accounts and notes”.
(*2) Receivables and payables arising from derivative transactions are represented on a net basis.

Millions of yen

2010

Book value Fair value Difference

Assets
(1) Cash ................................................................... ¥ 7,669 ¥ 7,669 ¥ –

(2) Accounts and notes ..................................... 65,973 – –

Allowance for doubtful receivables (*1) ....... (477) – –

Trade receivables .......................................... 65,496 65,496 –

(3) Deposit to the parent company.............. 26,665 26,665 –

(4) Other securities ............................................. 1,304 1,304 –

Liabilities
(1) Trade payables .............................................. ¥ 24,729 ¥ 24,729 ¥ –

(2) Short-term bank loans ............................... 3,717 3,717 –

(3) Long-term debt ............................................ 6,214 6,214 –

Derivative transactions (*2) ............................ ¥ 112 ¥ 112 ¥ –
(*1) The general allowance for doubtful accounts and individual allowance for doubtful accounts are deducted from “Accounts and notes”.
(*2) Receivables and payables arising from derivative transactions are represented on a net basis.

Method of calculating the fair value of financial instruments and information related to other securities and derivative transactions.

Assets:
(1) Cash, trade receivables and deposit to the parent company

As these instruments are settled within a short term and their fair values and book values are similar, their book values are assumed as their fair values.
(2) Other securities

The fair values of equity securities are determined by their prices on stock exchanges as of the year-end date.
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Liabilities:
(1) Trade payables and short-term bank loans

As these instruments are settled within a short term and their fair values and book values are similar, their book values are assumed as their fair values.

(2) Long-term debts
The fair value of long-term debt is determined by discounting the total amount of principal and interest by the assumed interest rate on new 
borrowings of the same type at year-end date. As stated in Note 1. “Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, 
exceptional accounting is employed on interest rate swaps on long-term debt with floating interest rates. As these swaps are accounted for by 
combining those with the hedged interest payments, the fair value of the total amount of principal and interest of the long-term debt hedged by 
the interest rate swaps is calculated by applying a rationally estimated discount rate on new borrowings of the same type at year-end date.

Financial instruments for which fair value is not readily determinable:
The fair value of unlisted equity securities, of which book value is ¥1,134 million ($13,638 thousand) and ¥1,101 million as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively, is not readily determinable.

Redemption schedules for receivables with maturity dates as of March 31, 2011 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2011

Within 
one year

Over 
one year 

through five years

Over 
five years 

through ten years

Over 
ten years

Cash ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 5,774 ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –

Trade receivables ............................................................................................... 68,068 709 2 –

Deposit to the parent company ................................................................... 21,877 – – –

Total...................................................................................... ¥ 95,719 ¥ 709 ¥ 2 ¥ –

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2011

Within 
one year

Over 
one year 

through five years

Over 
five years 

through ten years

Over 
ten years

Cash ........................................................................................................................ $ 69,441 $ – $ – $ –

Trade receivables ............................................................................................... 818,617 8,527 24 –

Deposit to the parent company ................................................................... 263,103 – – –

Total...................................................................................... $ 1,151,161 $ 8,527 $ 24 $ –

Millions of yen

2010

Within 
one year

Over 
one year 

through five years

Over 
five years 

through ten years

Over 
ten years

Cash ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 7,604 ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –

Trade receivables ............................................................................................... 64,743 749 4 –

Deposit to the parent company ................................................................... 26,665 – – –

Total...................................................................................... ¥ 99,012 ¥ 749 ¥ 4 ¥ –
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6. Investments in Securities
The Company accounts for investments in securities in accordance with “Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments”, as discussed in note 1(d).
 As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Companies had no trading securities and held-to-maturity securities.
 The following is a summary of acquisition cost basis, unrealized holding gains or losses and aggregate fair value of other securities by major 
security type as of March 31, 2011 and 2010.

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

Acquisition
cost
basis

Unrealized
holding 

gains (losses)

Aggregate
fair

value

Acquisition
cost
basis

Unrealized
holding 

gains (losses)

Aggregate
fair

value

2011 2011

Other securities with gross
unrealized holding gains:

Equity securities................................................... ¥ 128 ¥ 156 ¥ 284 $ 1,539 $ 1,876 $ 3,416
¥ 128 ¥ 156 ¥ 284 $ 1,539 $ 1,876 $ 3,416

Other securities with gross
unrealized holding losses:

Equity securities................................................... ¥ 1,097 ¥ (251) ¥ 846 $ 13,193 $ (3,019) $ 10,174
¥ 1,097 ¥ (251) ¥ 846 $ 13,193 $ (3,019) $ 10,174
¥ 1,225 ¥ (95) ¥ 1,130 $ 14,732 $ (1,143) $ 13,590

Millions of yen

Acquisition
cost
basis

Unrealized
holding 

gains (losses)

Aggregate
fair

value

2010

Other securities with gross
unrealized holding gains:

Equity securities................................................... ¥ 132 ¥ 197 ¥ 329

¥ 132 ¥ 197 ¥ 329
Other securities with gross

unrealized holding losses:
Equity securities................................................... ¥ 1,090 ¥ (115) ¥ 975

¥ 1,090 ¥ (115) ¥ 975
¥ 1,222 ¥ 82 ¥ 1,304

7. Short-term Bank Loans and Long-term Debt

(a) Short-term bank loans as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Short-term bank loans with a weighted-average interest 1.9% ..................................... ¥ 2,857 ¥ 3,717 $ 34,360
¥ 2,857 ¥ 3,717 $ 34,360

(b) Long-term debt as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Loans from banks due within one year with an interest 1.8% ........................................ ¥ 448 ¥ 6,214 $ 5,388
Loans from banks due over one year with an interest 0.7% ............................................ 5,879 – 70,704
Installment accounts payable ..................................................................................................... 7,084 5,979 85,195
Guarantee deposits received ...................................................................................................... 587 383 7,060
Less current portion ....................................................................................................................... (3,453) (8,865) (41,527)

¥ 10,545 ¥ 3,711 $ 126,819
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As of March 31, 2011, lease obligations and current portion of lease obligations on the balance sheets were ¥5,975 million ($71,858 thousand) and ¥1,523 
million ($18,316 thousand), respectively.

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for periods following March 31, 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Within one year ........................................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 448 $ 5,388
Over one year through two years ......................................................................................................................................... 411 4,943
Over two years through three years .................................................................................................................................... 5,360 64,462
Over three years through four years ................................................................................................................................... 92 1,106
Over four years through five years ....................................................................................................................................... 16 192

¥ 6,327 $ 76,091

The aggregate annual maturities of installment accounts payable for periods following March 31, 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Within one year .......................................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 3,005 $ 36,140
Over one year through two years ........................................................................................................................................ 1,740 20,926
Over two years through three years ................................................................................................................................... 1,054 12,676
Over three years through four years .................................................................................................................................. 850 10,222
Over four years through five years ...................................................................................................................................... 382 4,594
Over five years ............................................................................................................................................................................ 53 637

¥ 7,084 $ 85,195

The aggregate annual maturities of lease obligations for periods on the balance sheets following March 31, 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Within one year ........................................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 1,523 $ 18,316
Over one year through two years ......................................................................................................................................... 1,358 16,332
Over two years through three years .................................................................................................................................... 1,238 14,889
Over three years through four years ................................................................................................................................... 929 11,173
Over four years through five years ....................................................................................................................................... 562 6,759
Over five years ............................................................................................................................................................................. 1,888 22,706

¥ 7,498 $ 90,174

(c) As of March 31, 2011 and 2010 the carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for long-term debt and other liabilities are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Land...................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 387 ¥ 633 $ 4,654
Buildings and structures ............................................................................................................... 343 108 4,125

8. Impairment of Fixed Assets
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company recognized impairment losses on the following property groups:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollarsProperty group Description of assets
2011 2010 2011

Distribution center Buildings and structures ................................ ¥ – ¥ 24 $ –
 Machinery and equipment ........................... – 1 –
 Land ....................................................................... – 235 –
Land for business Land ....................................................................... – 54 –
Rental property Buildings and structures ................................ – 593 –

¥ – ¥ 907 $ –
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9. Loss on Disaster
The Company recorded expenses of restoration, removal and destruction of other assets affected by the Great East Japan Earthquake. A breakdown of 
losses on disaster is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2011

Repair expenses for epuipment (after excluding expected

earthquake insurance claims receivable) .............................................. ¥ 997 $ 11,990

Restoration support expenses, consolation payments, etc. .............. 111 1,335

Fixed costs owing to the suspension of operations ............................. 106 1,275

Loss on the destruction of fixed assets...................................................... 46 553

Repair expenses for equipment include a provision for loss on disaster.

10. Income Taxes
Income tax expense attributable to income from operations for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 consists of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Current ........................................................................................................................................... ¥ (7,452) ¥ (7,160) $ (89,621)
Deferred ......................................................................................................................................... 838 758 10,078

¥ (6,614) ¥ (6,402) $ (79,543)

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to a number of taxes based on income, which in the aggregate resulted in a normal tax rate of 
approximately 40.7% for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are 
presented below:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars
2011 2010 2011

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued bonuses ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 2,367 ¥ 2,248 $ 28,467

Provision for retirement and severance benefits ............................................................ 4,940 4,552 59,411

Depreciation ................................................................................................................................ 2,001 1,894 24,065

Other, net ...................................................................................................................................... 5,319 4,138 63,969

Valuation allowance .................................................................................................................. (2,171) (1,743) (26,109)

Total deferred tax assets ............................................................................. 12,456 11,089 149,802

Deferred tax liabilities:

Reserve for fixed assets reduction ....................................................................................... (3,990) (4,019) (47,986)

Prepaid pension expenses ...................................................................................................... (171) (109) (2,057)

Net unrealized holding gain on other securities ............................................................ (63) (79) (758)

Depreciation ................................................................................................................................ (859) (959) (10,331)

Other, net ...................................................................................................................................... (647) (372) (7,781)

Total deferred tax liabilities ....................................................................... (5,730) (5,538) (68,912)

Net deferred tax assets .............................................................................. ¥ 6,726 ¥ 5,551 $ 80,890
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The following table summarizes the significant differences between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the consolidated financial 
statement purposes for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010

Statutory tax rate ...........................................................................................  40.7 %  40.7 %

Non-deductible expenses .....................................................................  1.8  1.6

Per capita inhabitant tax........................................................................  1.0  1.2

Unrealized gains on deficit of subsidiaries for tax purposes ....  3.6  4.4

Amortization of goodwill ......................................................................  2.8  0.8

Other .............................................................................................................   (1.2)  2.9

Effective tax rate ............................................................................................  48.7 %  51.6 %

11. Retirement and Severance Benefits
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries provide certain types of defined retirement benefit plans comprising qualifying retirement annuity plans 
and lump-sum retirement benefit plans.
 Certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries are enrolled in the Smaller Enterprises Retirement Allowance Mutual Aid System; others are enrolled in 
Employee’s Pension Fund through multi-employer plans.
 In addition to the above plans, the Company may provide additional termination benefits to employees in connection with their termination of 
employment.

The funded status of the Companies’ pension plans as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Projected benefit obligation ....................................................................................................... ¥ (30,239) ¥ (29,259) $ (363,668)
Plan assets at fair value ................................................................................................................. 12,634 11,977 151,942
Funded status ................................................................................................................................... (17,606) (17,282) (211,738)
Unrecognized actuarial loss ........................................................................................................ 5,972 6,425 71,822
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.......................................... ¥ (11,634) ¥ (10,857) $ (139,916)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Other assets .................................................................................................................................. ¥ 435 ¥ 284 $ 5,232
Accrued retirement and severance benefits .................................................................... (12,069)  (11,141) (145,147)

Net periodic benefit cost for the above plans of the Companies for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following components:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Service cost, net of participant contributions....................................................................... ¥ 2,303 ¥ 1,965 $ 27,697

Interest cost ....................................................................................................................................... 482 447 5,797

Expected return on plan assets for the period ..................................................................... (219) (223) (2,634)

Amortization of net actuarial loss ............................................................................................. 1,003 1,078 12,063

Net periodic pension cost ............................................................................................................ ¥ 3,569 ¥ 3,267 $ 42,922

Actuarial assumptions and the basis used in accounting for the Company’s plans as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are principally as follows:
2011 2010

Discount rate ...................................................................................................  1.7 – 2.2 %  1.7 – 2.2 %

Expected rate of return on plan assets ..................................................  2.0 – 2.2 %  2.0 %

Amortization periods of actuarial gain (loss) ......................................  12 –25 years  12 – 25 years
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12. Legal Reserve and Dividends
The Japanese Commercial Code (JCC) requires an amount of equal to at least 10% of appropriations of retained earnings to be paid in cash be 
appropriated as a legal reserve until total of capital surplus and legal reserve equals 25% of stated capital. In addition to reduction of a deficit and 
transfer to stated capital, either capital surplus or legal reserve may be available for dividends by resolution of the shareholders’ meeting to the extent 
that the amount of total capital surplus and legal reserve exceeds 25% of stated capital.
 On May 1, 2006, a new Corporate Law (the “Law”) became effective, which reformed and replaced the JCC with various revisions that would, for 
the most part, be applicable to events or transactions which occur on or after May 1, 2006 and for the fiscal years ended on or after May 1, 2006.
 The Law requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (of retained earnings) or as additional paid-in 
capital (of capital surplus) depending on the equity account charged upon the payment of such dividends until the total of aggregate amount of legal 
reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the common stock. Under the Law, the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve 
may be reversed without limitation of threshold that the JCC provided. The Law also provides that common stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in 
capital, other capital surplus and retained earnings can be transferred among the accounts under certain conditions upon resolution of the 
shareholders.
 Cash dividends and appropriations to the legal reserve charged to retained earnings during the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 represent 
dividends and paid out during those periods and the related appropriations to the legal reserve. The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
do not include any provision for the semiannual dividend of ¥10.00 ($0.12) per share approved at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on May 27, 2011, 
aggregating ¥1,116 million ($13,422 thousand) in respect of the year ended March 31, 2011.

13. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments and contingencies as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Guarantees on employees’ housing loans ........................................................................ ¥ 1 ¥ 2 $ 12

Guarantees for third parties ................................................................................................... 137 61 1,648

¥ 138 ¥ 63 $ 1,660

14. Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses that were charged to cost of sales as incurred and included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the 
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 amounted to ¥63 million ($758 thousand) and ¥75 million, respectively.

15. Other Income (Expenses) - Others
Other income (expenses) - others for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 comprised the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Gain on sales of property and equipment ........................................................................ ¥ 50 ¥ 89 $ 601
Compensation income ............................................................................................................. – 2,527 –

Loss on disposal of property and equipment .................................................................. (259) (409) (3,115)
Depreciation ................................................................................................................................ – (140) –

Amortization of goodwill ........................................................................................................ (373) – (4,486)
Additional retirement benefits .............................................................................................. (57) (181) (686)
Area business restructuring cost .......................................................................................... (368) (1,462) (4,426)
Reversal of allowance for bad debt ..................................................................................... 89 37 1,070
Exchange loss .............................................................................................................................. (163) – (1,960)
Impairment loss .......................................................................................................................... – (907) –

Impact resulting from the application of accounting standards 

  for asset retirement obligations.......................................................................................... (121) – (1,455)
Other income ............................................................................................................................... 285 493 3,428
Other expenses ........................................................................................................................... (130) (332) (1,563)

¥ (1,047) ¥ (285) $ (12,592)
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16. Net Income per Share Information
The Company calculates net income per share in accordance with “Accounting Standard for Earnings per Share” issued by the Accounting Standards 
Board of Japan as described note 1(m). The Company has no potentially dilutive securities for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. Net income 
per share computed for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Number of shares (thousand)

2011 2010

Weighted average number of shares on which basic net income 
  per share is calculated  ........................................................................................................... 111,552 111,552

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Net income ................................................................................................................................... ¥ 6,806 ¥ 5,815 $ 81,852

Yen U.S. dollar

2011 2010 2011

Net income per share ............................................................................................................... ¥ 61.01 ¥ 52.13 $ 0.73

17. Lease Information
Finance leases
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, certain key information about such lease contracts, if they had been capitalized or if they had been 
accounted for as direct financing leases or sales-type leases, is as follows.

(a) Lessee
(1) Acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net balance of leased assets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, if they had been capitalized:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Acquisition
cost

Accumulated
depreciation Net balance Net balance

2011 2011

Machinery, equipment and vehicles ...................................................... ¥ 7,411 ¥ 4,610 ¥ 2,801 $ 33,686

Tools, furniture and fixtures ....................................................................... 1,190 914 276 3,319

Others ................................................................................................................ 223 155 68 818

Total ......................................................................................................... ¥ 8,824 ¥ 5,679 ¥ 3,145 $ 37,823

Millions of yen

Acquisition
cost

Accumulated
depreciation Net balance

2010

Machinery, equipment and vehicles ...................................................... ¥ 8,340 ¥ 4,634 ¥ 3,706

Tools, furniture and fixtures ....................................................................... 1,820 1,252 568
Others ................................................................................................................ 225 125 100

Total ......................................................................................................... ¥ 10,385 ¥ 6,011 ¥ 4,374

(2) Future lease payments, if they had been capitalized:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Within one year ........................................................................................................................... ¥ 1,000 ¥ 1,314 $ 12,026
Over one year .............................................................................................................................. 2,321 3,273 27,913

Total ..................................................................................................................................... ¥ 3,321 ¥ 4,587 $ 39,940
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(3) Comparison of lease expense with depreciation and interest expense, if they had been capitalized:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Lease expense ............................................................................................................................. ¥ 1,549 ¥ 2,039 $ 18,629
Depreciation ................................................................................................................................ 1,272 1,660 15,298
Interest expense ......................................................................................................................... 76 98 914

(b) Lessor
(1) The net investment in lease is summarized as follows:

Current assets

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Gross lease receivables............................................................................................................. ¥ 4,104 ¥ 3,092 $ 49,357
Estimated residual values ........................................................................................................ 757 494 9,104
Unearned interest income ...................................................................................................... (399) (296) (4,799)
Investments in lease, current ................................................................................................. ¥ 4,462 ¥ 3,290 $ 53,662

(2) Maturities of investments in lease are as follows:
Current assets

 
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

2012 .......................................................................................................................................... ¥ 1,207 ¥ 808 $ 14,516
2013 .......................................................................................................................................... 1,123 755 13,506
2014 .......................................................................................................................................... 1,031 725 12,399
2015 .......................................................................................................................................... 702 637 8,443
2016 .......................................................................................................................................... 372 324 4,474

2017 and thereafter ............................................................................................................ 27 41 325

Total .......................................................................................................................................... ¥ 4,462 ¥ 3,290 $ 53,662

(3) Acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net balance of leased assets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 included in equipment held for lease:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Acquisition
cost

Accumulated
depreciation Net balance Net balance

2011 2011

Machinery, equipment and vehicles ...................................................... ¥ 1,321 ¥ 887 ¥ 434 $ 5,219
Tools, furniture and fixtures ....................................................................... 7 4 3 36

Total ......................................................................................................... ¥ 1,328 ¥ 891 ¥ 437 $ 5,256

Millions of yen

Acquisition
cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Net balance

2010

Machinery, equipment and vehicles ...................................................... ¥ 2,274 ¥ 1,425 ¥ 849

Tools, furniture and fixtures ....................................................................... 63 43 20
Others ................................................................................................................ 13 12 1

Total ......................................................................................................... ¥ 2,350 ¥ 1,480 ¥ 870
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(4) Future lease payments to be received, if they had been accounted for as direct financing leases or sales-type leases:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Within one year ........................................................................................................................... ¥ 214 ¥ 416 $ 2,574
Over one year .............................................................................................................................. 125 342 1,503

Total ..................................................................................................................................... ¥ 339 ¥ 758 $ 4,077

(5) Comparison of lease income and depreciation with interest income, if they had been accounted for as direct financing leases or sales-type leases:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Lease income ............................................................................................................................... ¥ 336 ¥ 625 $ 4,041
Depreciation ................................................................................................................................ 279 525 3,355
Interest income ........................................................................................................................... 22 43 265

(c) Operating leases
Lessee

Future lease payments:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Within one year ........................................................................................................................... ¥ 8,632 ¥ 6,657 $ 103,812
Over one year .............................................................................................................................. 65,403 41,820 786,566

Total ..................................................................................................................................... ¥ 74,034 ¥ 48,477 $ 890,367

Lessor
Future lease payments to be received:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Within one year ........................................................................................................................... ¥ 144 ¥ 138 $ 1,732
Over one year .............................................................................................................................. 229 202 2,754

Total ..................................................................................................................................... ¥ 373 ¥ 340 $ 4,486

18. Segment Information
The Companies have applied “Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (ASBJ Statement No. 17, 
issued on March 27, 2009) and “Guidance on the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 20, issued on March 21, 2008) from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

(a) Overview of reporting segments
The Companies’ reporting segments are composed of those individual business units for which separate financial information is available, about 
which the Board of Directors makes decisions regarding the allocation of management resources and for which operating performance can be 
evaluated, allowing them to be examined periodically.
 The Company divides its operations into domestic logistics business, global logistics business and other businesses. Consolidated subsidiaries 
conduct their business as autonomous business units. These businesses are regularly taken into consideration by the Company’s Executive 
Committee, which draws up overall strategies for each, under which they conduct their business operations.
 Consequently, the service-specific business segments of the Companies mainly comprise the abovementioned segments and consolidated 
subsidiaries. Reporting segments have been designated as domestic logistics and global logistics in order to provide appropriate information about 
the segments’ operating activities and management environments and by combining operating segments that are similar in terms of economic and 
service characteristics.
 Domestic logistics comprises comprehensive logistics services, including the establishment of a logistics system; control of information, 
inventories and orders; value-added services; distribution center operation; factory logistics; and transportation and delivery. Global logistics 
involves comprehensive logistics services that include customs clearance and international intermodal transportation by land, sea and air. 



32 Financial Statements
Annual Report 2011

(b) Methods of calculating sales revenues, income or losses, assets, liabilities and other items by reporting segment
Methods of accounting for reported business segments are in principal the same as those indicated in Note 1 “Basis of Presentation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies.” 
 Income or losses of reporting segments are based on operating income.
 Intersegment transactions are those that take place between companies and are based on market prices. Assets of reporting segments are 
not listed, as the Executive Committee does not use information on operating segment assets.

(c)  Reporting segments information of service revenues, income (losses), and other items by reporting segment as of and for the years ended March 
31, 2011 and 2010 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2010 2011

Service revenues Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 256,886 ¥ 244,460 $ 3,089,429
Global logistics .............................................................................. 93,264 71,095 1,121,636
Other services ................................................................................ 26,431 23,789 317,871

Subtotal ................................................................................. 376,581 339,344 4,528,936
Adjustments ................................................................................... (7,783) (7,427) (93,602)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 368,798 ¥ 331,917 $ 4,435,334

Segment income Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 21,815 ¥ 19,134 $ 262,357
Global logistics .............................................................................. 1,477 1,286 17,763
Other services ................................................................................ 2,751 1,876 33,085

Subtotal ................................................................................. 26,043 22,296 313,205
Adjustments ................................................................................... (10,103) (9,572) (121,503)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 15,940 ¥ 12,724 $ 191,702

Depreciation Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 6,038 ¥ 6,281 $ 72,616
Global logistics .............................................................................. 2,100 1,455 25,256
Other services ................................................................................ 1,303 1,364 15,670

Subtotal ................................................................................. 9,441 9,100 113,542
Adjustments ................................................................................... 205 163 2,465

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 9,646 ¥ 9,263 $ 116,007

Amortization of Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 168 ¥ 181 $ 2,020
 goodwill Global logistics .............................................................................. 402 123 4,835

Other services ................................................................................ 10 - 120
Subtotal ................................................................................. 580 304 6,975

Adjustments ................................................................................... - - -
Total......................................................................................... ¥ 580 ¥ 304 $ 6,975
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(d) Business segment

Millions of yen

2010

Service revenues Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 244,460

Global logistics .............................................................................. 71,095
Other services ................................................................................ 22,553

Subtotal ................................................................................. 338,108
Intersegment elimination ......................................................... (6,191)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 331,917

Operating income Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 19,133
Global logistics .............................................................................. 1,286
Other services ................................................................................ 1,501

Subtotal ................................................................................. 21,920
Intersegment elimination ......................................................... (9,196)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 12,724
Assets Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 154,453

Global logistics .............................................................................. 41,727
Other services ................................................................................ 28,885

Subtotal ................................................................................. 225,065
Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ 6,123

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 231,188

(e) Geographic segment

Millions of yen

2010

Service revenues Japan ................................................................................................. ¥ 297,930
Other ................................................................................................. 40,878

Subtotal ................................................................................. 338,808
Intersegment elimination ......................................................... (6,891)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 331,917

Operating income Japan ................................................................................................. ¥ 21,313
Other ................................................................................................. 607

Subtotal ................................................................................. 21,920
Intersegment elimination ......................................................... (9,196)

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 12,724

Assets Japan ................................................................................................. ¥ 198,224
Other ................................................................................................. 26,841

Subtotal ............................................................................... 225,065
Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ 6,123

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 231,188
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(f ) Overseas service revenues
Millions of yen

Europe North America Other Total
2010

Overseas service revenues ........................................... ¥ 19,251 ¥ 8,156 ¥ 10,903 ¥ 38,310
Consolidated service revenues .................................. – – – 331,917

Overseas service revenues as a percentage of 
  total consolidated service revenues .......................  5.8%  2.4%  3.3% 11.5%

Related information for the year ended March 31, 2011 is summarized as follows;
(a) Service revenues and property and equipment by geographical areas

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2011

Service revenues Japan ................................................................................................. ¥ 313,891 $ 3,774,997
Europe .............................................................................................. 18,425 221,587
North America ............................................................................... 15,626 187,925
Other ................................................................................................. 20,856 250,824

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 368,798 $ 4,435,334

The information of property and equipment by geographical areas is omitted, as property and equipment located in Japan is more than 90% of 
property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets.

(b) Sales for major customers
This information is omitted, as no sales revenues derived from any external customer amounted to 10% or more of revenues in the consolidated 
statements of income.

(c) Amortization of goodwill and unamortized balances by reporting segment

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2011 2011

Amortization of Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 541 $ 6,506
  goodwill Global logistics .............................................................................. 402 4,835

Other services ................................................................................ 10 120
Subtotal ................................................................................. 953 11,461

Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ – –
Total......................................................................................... ¥ 953 $ 11,461

Unamortized Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 4,735 $ 56,945
  balances of Global logistics .............................................................................. 7,669 92,231
  goodwill Other services ................................................................................ 37 445

Subtotal ................................................................................. 12,441 149,621
Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ – –

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 12,441 $ 149,621

Amortization of Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 25 $ 301
  negative goodwill Global logistics .............................................................................. 8 96

Other services ................................................................................ – –
Subtotal ................................................................................. 33 397

Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ – –
Total......................................................................................... ¥ 33 $ 397

Unamortized Domestic logistics ........................................................................ ¥ 88 $ 1,058
  balances of Global logistics .............................................................................. – –
  negative goodwill Other services ................................................................................ – –

Subtotal ................................................................................. 88 1,058
Intersegment elimination and corporate items ................ – –

Total......................................................................................... ¥ 88 $ 1,058
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19. Derivative Financial Instruments
(a) Derivative financial instruments to which hedge accounting is not applied
  (1) Currency-related transactions

Nothing is to be reported at March 31, 2011.
Millions of yen

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
values

Unrealized
gains

(losses)Total Maturing 
over one year

2010

Currency-related transactions:
Currency swaps (Receivable/JPY and payable/EUR) ........................ ¥ 188 ¥ 94 ¥ 46 ¥ 46

¥ 188 ¥ 94 ¥ 46 ¥ 46

The fair values are estimated on the basis of information obtained from third party financial institutions.

(2) Interest-related transactions
Millions of yen

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
values

Unrealized
gains

(losses)Total Maturing 
over one year

2011

Interest-related transactions:
Interest rate swap contracts ...................................................................... ¥ 174 ¥ 174 ¥ 152 ¥ (22)

(Receivable/floating and payable/fixed)

¥ 174 ¥ 174 ¥ 152 ¥ (22)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
values

Unrealized
gains

(losses)Total Maturing 
over one year

2011

Interest-related transactions:
Interest rate swap contracts ...................................................................... $ 2,093 $ 2,093 $ 1,828 $ (265)

(Receivable/floating and payable/fixed)

$ 2,093 $ 2,093 $ 1,828 $ (265)

The fair values are estimated on the basis of information obtained from third party financial institutions.

Millions of yen

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
values

Unrealized
gains

(losses)Total Maturing 
over one year

2010

Interest-related transactions:
Interest rate swap contracts ...................................................................... ¥ 384 ¥ 166 ¥ (22) ¥ (22)

(Receivable/floating and payable/fixed)

¥ 384 ¥ 166 ¥ (22) ¥ (22)
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(b) Derivative financial instrument applied hedge accounting
  (1) Currency-related transactions

The Company has applied deferral hedge accounting for forward exchange contracts to hedge risks of exchange rate fluctuation on foreign 
currency trade payables. The notional amounts and estimated fair values are described below.

Millions of yen

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
valuesTotal Maturing 

over one year

2011

Currency-related transactions:
Forward exchange contracts

Sell: USD ...................................................................................................... ¥ 1,456 ¥ – ¥ (96)
¥ 1,456 ¥ – ¥ (96)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
valuesTotal Maturing 

over one year

2011

Currency-related transactions:

Forward exchange contracts

Sell: USD ...................................................................................................... $ 17,511 $ – $ (1,155)
$ 17,511 $ – $ (1,155)

The fair values are estimated on the basis of information obtained from third party financial institutions.

Millions of yen

Notional
amounts Estimated

fair
valuesTotal Maturing 

over one year

2010

Currency-related transactions:
Forward exchange contracts

Sell: USD ...................................................................................................... ¥ 2,128 ¥ 1,344 ¥ 88

¥ 2,128 ¥ 1,344 ¥ 88

(2) Interest-related transactions
The Company has applied hedge accounting for interest swap contracts to hedge risks of changes of floating interest rate on long-term debt. The 
notional amount is ¥5,000 million ($60,132 thousand) and ¥6,000 million at March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. As discussed in Note 1(j), 
qualified interest rate swap transactions are accounted for using the special method. Therefore, the fair value of long-term debt in Note 5(b) 
includes the fair value of the interest swap contracts.
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20. Comprehensive Income
“Accounting Standard for Presentation of Comprehensive Income” (ASBJ Statement No. 25, issued June 30, 2010) became effective for consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal years ending on or after March 31, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has applied this standard and presents “Valuation 
and transaction adjustments” and “Total valuation and transaction adjustments” as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 as “Accumulated 
other comprehensive income” and “Total accumulated other comprehensive income” as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, respectively.

Comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 comprises as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2010 2010

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent ......................................... ¥ 6,009 $ 72,267
Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests ............................................... 212 2,550

Total.............................................................................................................................................. ¥ 6,221 $ 74,817

Other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 comprises as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

2010 2010

Net unrealized holding gains on other securities ................................................................. ¥ 33 $ 397

Deferred gains (losses) on hedges .............................................................................................. 52 625
Foreign currency translation adjustments ............................................................................... 141 1,696

Total.............................................................................................................................................. ¥ 226 $ 2,718

21. Business Combinations
Acquisition of Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. through acquisition of shares for the year ended March 31, 2011
(a) Overview of business combination

(1) Names and businesses of an acquired company
Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. - Air and marine forwarding business, and other services

(2) Principal reasons for business combination
As one aspect of its global strategy, the Companies established Hitachi Transport System India Pvt. Ltd. in November 2007 and have developed their 
3PL operations. The Companies determined that by acquiring shares in Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. and converting that company to a subsidiary, they 
could benefit from synergies between the forwarding network held by Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. and the 3PL operations of Hitachi Transport System 
India Pvt. Ltd., thereby raising its level of service and enhancing its competitiveness. Furthermore, the Companies determined that such a move would 
reinforce their logistics business infrastructure in India and expand the scale of their global third-party logistics business.

(3) Date of the business combination
April 30, 2010

(4) Legal form of business combination and name of the entity after business combination
Name of the entity after business combination - Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd.
Legal form of business combination – Acquisition of shares

(5) Share of voting rights acquired
100.0%

(6) Main grounds for determination of an acquirer in the business combination
The Companies acquired all shares in Flyjac Logistics Pvt. Ltd. for cash consideration.

(b) Period for inclusion of acquired company’s operating performance in the consolidated financial statements
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011
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(c) Acquisition price and details

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Cash consideration for acquisition................................................................................................ ¥ 5,433 $ 65,340
Expense amount owing directly to acquisition (Advisory fees) ......................................... 96 1,155

Cost of acquisition .............................................................................................................................. ¥ 5,529 $ 66,494

(d) Amount of goodwill recognized, its sources, and its amortization method and term
(1) Amount of goodwill recognized 

¥3,928 million ($47,240 thousand)

(2) Sources of goodwill
As the acquisition costs exceed the net value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, that excess is recorded as goodwill.

(3) Goodwill amortization method and term
Straight-line method over 20 years

(e) A breakdown of the amounts of principal assets received and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination is provided below.

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 2,091 $ 25,147

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 1,513 18,196

Total assets ........................................................................................................... 3,604 43,343

Current liabilities................................................................................................ 1,622 19,507

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... 381 4,582

Total liabilities ..................................................................................................... ¥ 2,003 $ 24,089

(f )  The amounts allocated to intangible assets other than goodwill, breakdown by principal classification and the weighted average depreciation period 
for overall assets and assets by principal classification

(1) Amounts allocated to intangible assets other than goodwill and breakdown by principal classification
Amount allocated to intangible assets – ¥1,140 million ($13,710 thousand)
Breakdown by principal classification:

 Intangible assets related to customers – ¥1,092 million ($13,133 thousand)
 Intangible assets related to marketing – ¥48 million ($577 thousand)

(2) Weighted average amortization period for overall assets and assets by principal classification
Intangible assets related to customers are amortized over 10 years. Intangible assets related to marketing are amortized over 2 years. Overall 
weighted average amortization period is 10 years.

 
Acquisition of the DIC Logitech Co., Ltd. through acquisition of shares for the year ended March 31, 2011
(a) Overview of business combination

(1) Names and businesses of an acquired company
DIC Logitech Co., Ltd. – Transport, storage and shipping of chemicals, and other services

(2) Principal reasons for business combination
The Companies aggressively pursue expansion, including through acquisitions of logistics subsidiaries of other companies, in an effort to further 
strengthen and expand their 3PL business. The Companies determined that by acquiring the shares of DIC Logistics Corporation, a logistics 
subsidiary of DIC Corporation, they could mount a full-fledged initiative in the chemicals business as a new field in its 3PL business. The 
Companies determined that this move was appropriate upon overall consideration of the management of this business and its future business 
development.

(3) Date of the business combination
January 1, 2011
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(4) Legal form of business combination and name of the entity after business combination
Name of the entity after business combination – Hitachi Finenext Transport System Co., Ltd.
Legal form of business combination – Acquisition of shares

(5) Share of voting rights acquired
90.0%

(6) Main grounds for determination of acquirer in the business combination
The Companies acquired shares in DIC Logitech Co., Ltd. for cash consideration.

(b) Period for inclusion of acquired company’s operating performance in the consolidated financial statements
From January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011

(c) Acquisition price and details

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Cash consideration for acquisition.............................................................. ¥ 3,150 $ 37,883

Expense amount owing directly to acquisition (Advisory fees) ....... 45 541

Cost of acquisition ............................................................................................ ¥ 3,195 $ 38,425

(d) Amount of goodwill recognized, its sources, and its amortization method and term
(1) Amount of goodwill recognized 

¥2,889 million ($34,744 thousand)

(2) Sources of goodwill
As the acquisition costs exceed the net value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, that excess is recorded as goodwill.

(3) Goodwill amortization method and term
Straight-line method over 20 years

(e) A breakdown of the amounts of principal assets received and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination is provided below.

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 1,934 $ 23,259

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 3,337 40,132

Total assets ........................................................................................................... 5,271 63,391

Current liabilities................................................................................................ 4,809 57,835

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... 122 1,467

Total liabilities ..................................................................................................... ¥ 4,931 $ 59,302

(f ) Allocation of acquisition costs
As the acquisition costs had not been determinable as of March 31, 2011, accounting treatment is based on a reasonable estimate according to the 
information available as of that date.

(g)  (Unaudited) Estimated impacts on the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, assuming that the business 
combination had occurred on April 1, 2010.
Sales – ¥13,570 million ($163,199 thousand)
Operating income – ¥389 million ($4,678 thousand)

(Method of estimation of impact)
The impact of the business combination is estimated as the difference between the amounts of net sales and operating income assuming that the 
business combination was conducted on April 1, 2010, and the amounts of net sales and operating income in the consolidated statements of 
income of the acquired company.
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Application of the purchase method for the year ended March 31, 2010
(a)  Name of acquired company, content of its business, reason for conducting a business combination, date of the business combination, legal form of 

the business combination, name of the company following the business combination, percentage of voting rights acquired
(1) Name and businesses of an acquired company

J.P. Holding Company, Inc. – Truck transportation business, and other services

(2) Principal reasons for business combination
The Companies aggressively pursue their global development in an effort to further strengthen and expand their third-party logistics (3PL) 
business. Through capital participation in the J.P. Holding Company, Inc., a logistics company located in the Midwestern United States, the 
Companies will become able to configure a transportation network spanning the Midwestern United States to the Mexico. To meet customers’ 
needs, this transportation capacity will augment the Companies’ strength in the 3PL warehousing business. As a result of the synergies gained by 
strengthening its relationship with J.P. Holding Company, Inc., the Companies expect to raise their level of service and bolster their 
competitiveness, thereby reinforcing their base of operations in the North American logistic business and expanding their operations.

(3) Date of the business combination
October 22, 2009

(4) Legal form of business combination and name of the entity after business combination
Name of the entity after business combination – J.P. Holding Company, Inc.
Legal form of business combination – Acquisition of shares

(5) Share of voting rights acquired
51.0%

(b) Period for inclusion of acquired company’s operating performance in the consolidated financial statements
From October 22, 2009 to December 31, 2009

(c) Acquisition price and details
The Companies acquired shares in J.P. Holding Company, Inc. for cash consideration, and its cost of acquisition was ¥3,227 million ($38,809 
thousand).

(d) Amount of goodwill recognized, its sources, and its amortization method and term
(1) Amount of goodwill recognized 

¥2,740 million ($32,952 thousand)

(2) Sources of goodwill
As the acquisition costs exceed the net value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, that excess is recorded as goodwill.

(3) Goodwill amortization method and term
Straight-line method over 20 years

(e) A breakdown of the amounts of principal assets received and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination is provided below.

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Current assets ..................................................................................................... ¥ 1,584 $ 19,050

Non-current assets ............................................................................................ 3,874 46,590

Total assets ........................................................................................................... 5,458 65,640

Current liabilities................................................................................................ 1,909 22,959

Non-current liabilities ...................................................................................... 2,595 31,173

Total liabilities ..................................................................................................... ¥ 4,504 $ 54,167
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(f )  Estimated impact on the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, assuming that the business combination had 
occurred on April 1, 2009.

This information has been omitted, as the amount of the impact is immaterial.

22. Subsequent Events
(Acquisition of shares in Vantec Corporation (“Vantec”) through a tender offer)
The Company resolved at a Board of Directors meeting held on March 9, 2011, to acquire the common stock and share options of Vantec through a 
tender offer, with the aim of making Vantec a consolidated subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, on March 10, 2011, the Company extended the 
tender offer, which was completed on April 19, 2011. As a result, the Company acquired a majority of Vantec’s common stocks on April 26, 2011, and 
Vantec became a consolidated subsidiary of the Company.

(a)  Name of acquired company, content and scale of its business, reason for conducting a business combination, date of the business combination, 
legal form of the business combination, name of the company following the business combination, percentage of voting rights acquired and 
principal grounds for decision to acquire company
(1) Name of acquired company, content and scale of its business

Name of acquired company – Vantec Corporation
Content of business – Warehousing and transport-related operations
Scale of business as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars

Consolidated sales ............................................................................................ ¥ 113,601 $ 1,366,218

Consolidated operating income .................................................................. 4,225 50,812

Consolidated net income ............................................................................... 2,488 29,922

Consolidated assets .......................................................................................... 68,456 823,283

Consolidated net asset .................................................................................... 24,222 291,305

(2) Principal reasons for business combination
The Companies have set the priority objectives of its mid-term plan objectives as the further strengthening of the third-party logistics (3PL) 
business and the acceleration of global business. As a result, the Companies aim to meet the increasingly diverse needs of customers in Japan 
and overseas and respond to changing needs, provide optimal logistics services and expand its operations. 
 Meanwhile, Vantec has developed its logistics business globally as a comprehensive logistics company, whose two primary areas of 
business were logistics services focusing on the transfer of automotive parts and air and marine freight forwarding services. In developing its 
global logistics operations, Vantec had overwhelming strength with respect to automotive parts logistics. With respect to forwarding services, the 
company developed international logistics for corporations by expanding its bases of operations throughout the world. 
 Against this backdrop, the Companies believe that the business combination with Vantec will facilitate joint efforts to enhance corporate 
value. By making Vantec a member of the Companies, we expect to benefit from synergies in 3PL and global businesses, and have determined 
that this combination will be extremely beneficial in enhancing the corporate value of the Company and Vantec.

(3) Date of the business combination
April 26, 2011

(4) Method of corporate merger and name of post-merger entity
Name of post-merger entity – Vantec Corporation
Method of corporate merger – Acquisition of shares

(5) Share of voting rights acquired

Percentage of voting rights before the acquisition .............................. –% (No shares)

Percentage of voting rights at the date of the acquisition ................ 90.12% (209,550 shares)

Percentage of voting rights after the acquisition .................................. 90.12% (209,550 shares)

(6) Main grounds for decision to acquire the company
The Companies acquired shares in Vantec Corporation for cash consideration.
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(b) Acquisition price and details
The Companies acquired shares in Vantec Corporation for cash consideration, ¥48,930 million ($588,455 thousand), ¥233,500 ($2,808) per share. 
Expense amount owing directly to acquisition had not been determined at March 31, 2011.

(c) A breakdown of the amounts of principal assets received and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination 
These had not been determined at March 31, 2011.

(d) Amount of goodwill generated, its sources, and its amortization method and term
These had not been determined at March 31, 2011.

(e) Method of raising funds for payment
Funds on hand and borrowings

(Substantial amount of borrowings)
Based on the resolution approved at a Board of Directors meeting on March 9, 2011, the Company borrowed funds as follows.

(1) Application of funds Tender offer for Vantec Corporation

(2) Name of lenders Hitachi, Ltd. Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.

(3) Total amount of borrowings
¥30,000 million
 ($360,794 thousand)

¥20,000 million
 ($240,529 thousand)

(4) Interest rate Basic interest rate + spread Basic interest rate + spread

(5) Execution date of borrowings April 25, 2011 April 25, 2011

(6) Maturity date
As this is in accordance with the Hitachi Group 
pooling system, a separate agreement has been 
established.

September 30, 2011
(Commitment line agreement period)

(7) Asset pledged as collateral Nothing to be reported Nothing to be reported
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Number of shares outstanding 111,776,714 shares
Number of shares per unit 100 shares

Number of shareholders Composition of shareholders

Major shareholders 

Corporate Data
Corporate name Hitachi Transport System, Ltd.

Head office 7-2-18, Toyo, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-8372, Japan

Founded February 1950

Paid-in capital ¥16,802 million

Main businesses 
• 3PL Business [integrated logistics services for corporate customers]

  (Logistics System Building, Information Control, Inventory Control, Orders Control, 

Processing for Distribution, Distribution Center Operation, Factory Logistics, 

Transportation, Customs Clearance, International Nonstop Delivery through Land/

Ocean/Air Transportation) 

• Transportation, Installation and Setting of General Cargo, Heavy Machineries, and Artworks

• Factory and Office Moving 

• Warehousing and Trunk Room Services 

• Collection and Transportation of Industrial Waste 

• Logistics Consulting, etc.

Domestic
Hokkaido Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Higashinippon Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Kanto Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Higashikanto Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Minamikanto Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Keiyo Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Chubu Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Kansai Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Chugoku Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Kyushu Hitachi Transport Service Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Collabonext Transport System Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Orientlogi Transport System Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Finenext Transport System Co, Ltd.
Direx Co., Ltd.
Nisshin Transportation Co., Ltd.
HTS Sea & Air Service Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Distribution Software Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Auto Service Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Travel Bureau, Ltd.

Overseas
Hitachi Transport System (America), Ltd.
Carter Logistics, LLC
Hitachi Sistema de Transporte Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Hitachi Transport System (Europe) B.V.
ESA s.r.o.
Hitachi Transport System (Asia) Pte. Ltd.
Hitachi Transport System (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Hitachi Transport System (Thailand), Ltd.
P.T. Berdiri Matahari Logistik
Hitachi Transport System India Pvt. Ltd.
Flyjac Logisitics Pvt. Ltd.
Hitachi Transport System (Shanghai), Ltd.
Hitachi Xinxin Global Logistics (Henan) Co., Ltd.
Dahang International Transportation Co., Ltd.
EHB Logistics Co., Ltd.
Nisshin Unyu (SHANGHAI) Co., Ltd.
Hitachi Transport System (Hong Kong) Ltd.
Hitachi Transport System (Taiwan) Ltd.
Hitachi Transport System (Korea), Ltd.

Main Subsidiaries & Affiliates Stock Information

Changes in share price (as of the end of the month) and volume

Location of 
business

Number of offices 
63 companies, 498 locations
(Domestic: 21 companies, 277 locations)
(Overseas: 42 companies, 221 locations)

Facilities

Area of distribution centers
3,710 thousand m2

(Domestic: 3,010 thousand m2)
(Overseas: 700 thousand m2)

Number of employees 
(Group total)

32,816
(Domestic: 22,925)
(Overseas: 9,891)

Name of shareholder Number of shares owned 
(thousands) Percentage of voting shares

Hitachi, Ltd. 59,452 53.29 %
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. 
(Trust Account) 7,744 6.94

Chuo Shoji Ltd. 6,368 5.70
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. 
(Trust Account) 4,913 4.40

Hitachi Transport System, Ltd. Employees’  
Shareholding Association 1,653 1.48

The Bank of New York, Treaty Jasdec 
Account 1,350 1.21

FUKUYAMA TRANSPORTING CO., LTD. 1,038 0.93

State Street Bank and Trust Company 944 0.84
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd.
 (Trust Account 9) 916 0.82

Nomura Asset Management U.K. Limited 
Sub A/C Evergreen Nominees Ltd. 782 0.70

Note:  The percentage of voting shares is calculated based on the number of shares excluding treasury stock (224,827 shares).

Foreign
shareholders

212

Individuals 
and others

6,602

Government, Local authority

1
Other corporations

215

Financial institutions,
Securities companies

74

Total 
7,104
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Securities companies

18,707,118 
shares
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shares
Foreign shareholders

15,566,714 
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Total 
111,776,714
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Head Office
7-2-18, Toyo, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-8372, Japan

Tel: +81-3-5634-0333
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